

How College Accreditors Miss the Mark on Student Outcomes

By Antoinette Flores April 2018



How College Accreditors Miss the Mark on Student Outcomes

By Antoinette Flores April 2018

Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 5 Background
- 8 Methodology
- 11 Findings
- 22 Recommendations for accrediting agencies
- **26 Recommendations for Congress**
- 28 Conclusion
- 28 About the author
- 28 Acknowledgments
- 29 Appendix

Introduction and summary

The tenor of news coverage about higher education's gatekeepers for federal student aid shifted notably in 2016. The private agencies—known as accreditors—review colleges to assure their quality and have often been portrayed as lax and derelict in their duty. Some media outlets, for example, have referred to these agencies in headlines such as "The Watchdogs of College Education Rarely Bite" and "College Accreditors Need Higher Standards." But the media coverage around accreditors suddenly shifted, as evidenced by headlines such as "Accreditors Crack Down" and "Tougher Scrutiny for Colleges with Low Graduation Rates."

The good press coverage followed a new effort announced by the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions (C-RAC)—an informal group of seven accreditors that oversees colleges in defined geographic regions. The group announced a plan to take a closer look at institutions with low graduation rates in late 2016. Under the plan, C-RAC members conducted an in-depth review of four-year colleges with graduation rates at or below 25 percent and two-year colleges with graduation rates at or below 15 percent, which is about half the national average. The review looked at conditions that may explain the low graduation rates and what colleges were doing to improve, although it did not lead to any immediate sanctions on those schools.

The C-RAC announcement and resulting study were part of an effort to coordinate a response to accreditors' critics. Such critics—including the Center for American Progress—have pointed to the large number of colleges with poor student outcomes that continue to win accreditation and rarely face significant consequences as a sign that accreditors are overly focused on process and not paying enough attention to actual results.⁵

When C-RAC issued its final report, it argued a different case on accreditors' use of student outcomes. Accreditors say that they measure outcomes but must use that data in a nuanced way. There are several reasons for this: Federal data is often unreliable; institutions serve student bodies that are too diverse to be judged

uniformly; and institutional quality must be considered in a broader context—not by outcome indicators alone.⁶

The reality of how accreditors use student outcome data actually lies somewhere in between. This report shows that the common refrain—that accreditors don't focus on student outcomes—is only half true. Accreditors do much more than measure inputs such as the number of books in a library, which they have long been criticized for doing instead of measuring student outcomes. Most accreditors collect numerous outcome measures every year. It is unclear, however, the extent to which the data are used to hold colleges accountable for bad outcomes. As a result, accreditors may review student outcomes, but their standards lack clarity on how a school's observed performance connects to consequences. With no definition of what performance means in terms of a college's quality, even the lowest performers pass the bar. These primary findings cover regional accreditors; national accreditors will be addressed later in the report.

The Center for American Progress conducted a detailed investigation of accreditor policies and practices at 11 main regional and national agencies, reviewing standards, guidance, documents, and annual reports to identify to what extent accreditors hold colleges accountable for student outcomes. The analysis also looked at how standards and guidance are used in practice. For each of the seven regional accreditors, the author reviewed documents for two colleges' accreditation reviews. Examining these documents showed what evidence colleges provide to prove that they are meeting accreditors' standards as well as how agencies then evaluate whether or not a college is in compliance. A similar review of self-studies from nationally accredited institutions could not be completed because nationally accredited colleges do not typically make these reviews public.

Regional agencies vary in terms of what student outcomes they emphasize, but none have a clear definition for what constitutes poor performance or how observed results connect to accountability actions taken. Some agency policies require that institutions evaluate specific outcomes such as completion in their accreditation reviews. Other agencies leave it up to the institution to determine which outcome measures demonstrate the value of the education they offer. The primary focus of regional agencies, however, is not on the level of performance but rather on the process a given college has to improve its educational offerings. As a result, a school's success is often measured by whether it has a codified process—not whether its performance is any good. Consequently, low performers may be insufficiently pushed to improve.

In contrast, the policies of national accreditors—which oversee mostly career-focused programs—place a clearer focus on accountability for student outcomes in their reviews. These agencies have minimum performance requirements for outcomes such as completion, job placement, and licensure pass rates. These measures are typically assessed annually, and often down to the individual program level. This structure, however, may not be as strong as it appears. When an institution fails to meet a benchmark, some agencies can be lenient in enforcement. Minimum performance standards may not represent high bars and vary across agencies. In practice, similar colleges are held to divergent expectations by national accreditors on how their students fare.

The good news of this analysis is that many regional and national accrediting agencies already collect some of the student outcome measures and have in place a process for collecting data needed to adopt a more results-based approach. That said, getting all accreditors to such a place demands a sizeable mentality shift to an approach that would require defining adequate performance and establishing a process of accountability across agencies. Changes to federal legislation could help encourage this shift.

To achieve a more outcomes-focused approach, this report recommends that accreditation agencies should:

- Collect common student outcome data across agencies.
- Include equity in data collection.
- Connect data collected explicitly to standards through clear performance benchmarks.
- Establish a defined process in accreditor standards for holding colleges accountable when performance on student outcome benchmarks is not up to standard.
- Support the creation of a federal student-level data system.

In addition to the actions above that accreditors should take, Congress should:

- Require accreditors to have standards on defined student outcomes.
- Create repayment rate and default minimums for federal aid purposes.

Requiring accreditors to focus more on outcomes matters for students. Each year, the U.S. Department of Education provides nearly \$130 billion in taxpayer money in the form of student grants and loans to help 13 million students attend more than 6,000 colleges. Many of these students, however, will never graduate. Students who do not finish are significantly more likely to default on their student

loans, often with catastrophic long-term financial impacts. To make matters worse, the higher education system suffers from broad gaps in college attainment and disparities in student loan debt and default by race and income. These differences define a system that too often exacerbates inequity instead of serving as an engine for economic mobility. It is all too easy for a college whose students don't fare well to receive an accreditor's stamp of approval—and the federal money that comes with it—over and over again, even when student outcomes don't improve.

While C-RAC's review of graduation rates is a great first step to encouraging higher accreditor standards, it will not amount to accountability unless it goes beyond simply reviewing institutions. Instead, accreditors must implement a set policy and process to address low performance on student outcomes going forward.

Background

Accrediting agencies are nonprofit, independent membership associations that serve as gatekeepers to federal student aid dollars. Before students can access federal grants and loans to pay for college, their college must first gain approval from a federally recognized accrediting agency.

The role of accreditation

The U.S. Department of Education recognizes 36 accrediting agencies of three different types. 10 The first group consists of seven main regional accreditors that oversee schools based on their geographic location. For example, the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACSCOC) oversees colleges in the southern states.¹¹ The majority of colleges overseen by regional accreditors are public and private nonprofit colleges. The second group consists of national accrediting agencies that oversee colleges nationwide, most of which are private for-profit colleges. The third group—which is not detailed in this report consists of programmatic accreditors that oversee specific programs but are not typically the primary gatekeepers to federal financial aid.

To gain approval from an accrediting agency, colleges must prove that they are in compliance with their agency's standards at least once every 10 years—and timeframes at national accreditors are often shorter. A grant of accreditation after the review process should signal that a college is high quality.

An accreditor must abide by several federal requirements to serve as a gatekeeper to federal financial aid dollars. Under federal law, accrediting agencies are required to have standards on student achievement in addition to other categories such as faculty and finances. 12 Accreditors set their own standards on quality that colleges must meet in order to be accredited. Standards, as used here, are the framework an accreditor uses to evaluate a college.

While accreditors are required to examine student achievement, federal rules give accreditors substantial flexibility to decide how they do so. First, federal legislation does not specifically define student achievement, leaving it open to interpretation by both accreditors and schools, the latter of which can define what constitutes success based on their institutional mission. Second, the Higher Education Act states that accreditors should have standards that address:

Success with respect to student achievement in relation to the institution's mission, which may include different standards for different institutions or programs, as established by the institution, including, as appropriate, consideration of [s]tate licensing examinations, consideration of course completion, and job placement rates.¹³

Third, each accreditor sets its own standards on quality, which can vary significantly by agency.

Though the requirements outlined in law do not define student outcomes standards, they also do not restrict agencies from setting and creating their own stricter accreditation standards for their institutions.

The accreditation process

The most intensive step in the accreditation review process is a self-study.¹⁴ A selfstudy is a report prepared by a college that provides evidence that it meets each of its accreditor's standards. A self-study process often takes an average of 18-24 months, though it can be shorter at nationally accredited schools. After a college submits its self-study, an accreditor arranges a team of volunteer peer-reviewers for a campus site visit. During the visit, the team evaluates the college to determine if that it meets each standard. Following the visit, the team files a report that details where the college meets standards, where it falls short, and how it should improve. The institution then has a chance to respond to that report. The ultimate decision on what happens to a school rests with an accreditor's commissioners. An agency's commissioners—including faculty, administrators, practitioners, and some members of the public—serve as the official decision-making body and determine whether or not a college gains accreditation. 15 The accreditor can also take actions that range from requiring a college to file another report; undergoing a visit in a given amount of time; or taking punitive action, such as probation. While punitive actions can signal that a college is at risk of losing accreditation, very few colleges actually do.16

In addition to the formal reaccreditation process that occurs at least once every 10 years, accrediting agencies also monitor college performance through annual reports, midterm reviews, and interim monitoring and special visits as needed. Annual reports vary but typically require colleges to submit basic information including data on finances and student outcomes. Some agencies require periodic review reports, but when and if these occur varies widely across agencies. As a result, periodic review reports were not included as part of this analysis.¹⁷

Key terms used in this report

Accreditors often use different terms to refer to the multiple steps in the accreditation review process. To avoid confusion, this report uses the most common terms. The following is a list of key terms used throughout this report:

- Standards: Standards are the quality framework an accreditor uses to evaluate a college. The standards define rules a college must meet in order to be accredited. Accrediting agencies create their own standards. While standards vary across agencies, federal law requires agencies to have standards in key areas such as student achievement, faculty, and finances.
- **Self-study**: A self-study is a report each college must prepare that explains how it meets its accreditor's standards of quality.
- Accreditor site visit or team report: Accreditor site visits or team reports are put together by a group of volunteer peer reviewers in order to evaluate whether a college meets an accreditor's standards. They often explain where a college performs well, where it falls short, and what it needs to do to improve. These reports are based on information provided in a college's selfstudy and found during an accrediting team's visit.
- Student outcome standard: A student outcome standard is based on quantifiable student achievement measures such as graduation rates, employment rates, and student loan defaults. Under federal legislation, accreditors are required to have standards on student achievement—which may include student outcomes, but is not specifically defined. This report is only concerned with student achievement standards that address student outcomes as defined here.

Methodology

To understand how accreditors use student outcome data in college reviews, CAP analyzed documents from the seven largest regional accrediting agencies and four of the largest national agencies. Table 1 provides a complete list of the accreditors included in this analysis as well as their respective abbreviations.

TABLE 1 Main institutional accrediting agencies included in analysis

Accrediting agency	Abbreviation	Accreditor type
Higher Learning Commission	HLC	Regional
Southern Association of Colleges and Schools, Commission on Colleges	SACSCOC	Regional
Middle States Commission on Higher Education	MSCHE	Regional
New England Association of Schools and Colleges, Commission on Institutions of Higher Education	NEASC	Regional
Western Association of Schools and Colleges, Senior College and University Commission	WSCUC	Regional
Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities	NWCCU	Regional
Western Association of Schools and Colleges, Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges	ACCJC	Regional
Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges	ACCSC	National
Council on Occupational Education	COE	National
Accrediting Council for Continuing Education and Training	ACCET	National
National Accrediting Commission of Career Arts & Sciences	NACCAS	National

Source: A full list of sources is available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2018/03/27103706/Student-Outcomes-Sources-Table-1.pdf.

This analysis relied on a wide range of documents. The author examined accreditor standards to determine how colleges are evaluated on student achievement and what requirements a college must meet to gain accreditation. This report also included a review of any publicly available guidance provided to institutions on what evidence should be included in the self-study.

Accreditors typically have broad definitions of student achievement, including student learning, graduation rates, and postgraduation placement. This report, however, only analyzes standards on quantifiable student achievement measures such as graduation rates, employment, and student loan defaults. While learning is a critical part of student achievement, it cannot be easily quantified and is complex enough to merit its own report.

Due to their broad definitions, standards can often be vague and difficult to understand without real-world context. To better grasp how standards are applied, this analysis included a review of several college self-studies as well as the accrediting site visit team reports that followed. While a site visit team report is not the final say on whether a college meets agency standards, it does heavily influence an agency's final decision. Institutions have the opportunity to respond to the report, and the agency's commission determines whether an institution meets each standard. It is important to note, however, that these decision processes are not public and are influenced by the findings from the site visit report.

CAP reviewed a total of 14 colleges' self-studies and subsequent accreditor site visit team reports—two colleges for each of the seven largest regional accrediting agencies. Nationally accredited colleges do not voluntarily make accreditation documents public, therefore, a similar review of these colleges' self-studies could not be completed. Reviewing two examples of accreditation reviews for each regional agency is by no means comprehensive of all the work an agency does, but it can provide additional context for how reviews apply standards.

Most accreditors do not require colleges to make self-studies and accreditor visit reports public. While some public and nonprofit colleges voluntarily post their self-studies and accreditation reviews on their websites, many do not. CAP was unable to find any nationally accredited for-profit college self-study or accreditation site visit team reports that had been voluntarily published. As a result, the review of self-studies relied on colleges that voluntarily post their accreditation documents online, with two exceptions. WSCUC publishes each college's accreditation site visit team report. ¹⁸ It does not publish the college's self-study. ACCJC

requires colleges to publish their self-studies, site visit team reports, and any actions taken against them on their own websites.¹⁹

Because self-studies and site visit reports are not always public, CAP applied several selection criteria to its review. CAP only reviewed colleges that published both their self-study and their corresponding site visit team report. A self-study on its own only provides information on how a college believes it meets an accreditor's standards, not how an accreditor judges a college's performance. This analysis also attempted to only include self-studies and reports that were conducted based on each agency's most recent standards. This was impossible to do for some agencies due to a recent change in their standards or their lack of transparency. For example, the NEASC revised its standards in 2016.²⁰ Of the 28 U.S. colleges that underwent reviews by NEASC in 2016 and 2017, only two colleges—Johnson State College and the University of Massachusetts, Boston—published both their self-studies and accreditor site visit reports. However, University of Massachusetts, Boston was evaluated based on NEASC's 2011 standards. In another example, MSCHE revised its standards in 2014, but the standards only became effective for colleges undergoing review in the 2017-2018 school year.²¹ Because no colleges had completed a self-study or accreditation visit based on the new standards, CAP used the old standards for this portion of its analysis.²² A complete list of accreditor standards, self-studies, accreditor site visit team reports, and other relevant guidance reviewed for this report is included in the Appendix.

Additionally, CAP attempted to review self-studies from a broad range of colleges in order to include examples from a variety of institutions. The two selfstudies for each regional agency, for example, typically consisted of one large and one small college; one public and one nonprofit college; or one four-year and one community college.

Lastly, CAP reviewed the instructions for annual reporting required by accreditors as well as the forms and submissions when available. Each agency requires colleges to submit annual reports consisting of a range of financial and student outcome data. These reports provide additional information about the types of evidence accrediting agencies have available to evaluate college quality. If a report was not publicly available, CAP reached out to the agency for more information.

Findings

Student outcome standards among regional accreditors vary in strength and specificity

Overall, this analysis found that the expectations regional accreditors lay out in their standards on student outcomes vary widely. Some agencies require colleges to focus on specific measures; some require goal setting on particular outcomes; and others allow institutions to decide measures that accurately reflect their success. The following table shows how student outcome standards compare across agencies. A full list of each agency's student outcome standards is included in the Appendix.

TABLE 2 Student outcome standards vary across accrediting agencies Common characteristics of student outcome standards, by accrediting agency

Common characteristics	HLC	MSCHE	WSCUC	ACCJC	NEASC	SACSCOC	NWCCU
Requires focus on specific outcomes	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓		
Requires demographic disaggregation			\checkmark	\checkmark			
Includes success after graduation	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		
Requires goal setting	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
Requires using quantitative outcomes data to make improvements	✓		✓	✓	✓		
Benchmarks against peers			\checkmark		\checkmark		
Requires using student outcomes					,		

Notes: The New England Association of Schools and Colleges makes demographic disaggregation optional in its Standard 8.1. MSCHE benchmarks against an institution's peers at the mid-point review, a process that was not evaluated for this report.

For an interactive comparison of student outcome standards across accrediting agencies, see the website version of Antoinette Flores, "How College Accreditors Miss the Mark on Student Outcomes" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www. americanprogress.org/?p=449937.

Source: See Appendix; For the accreditor agencies' complete titles, see Table 1 in Antoinette Flores, "How College Accreditors Miss the Mark on Student Outcomes" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/?p=449937.

Five of the 7 agencies' standards require colleges to measure and report specific student outcomes, although what measures are explicitly mentioned in the standards fluctuates from one agency to another. For example, HLC requires colleges

to evaluate admissions process

to focus on rates of retention, persistence, and completion.²³ WSCUC requires that colleges track retention and completion rates.²⁴ Two accreditors—SACSCOC and NWCCU—leave measures of success more open-ended. SACSCOC requires that colleges evaluate success—which may include retention and graduation rates or student portfolios, among other things—but does not stipulate which specific indicators a college must choose.²⁵ Like SACSCOC, NWCCU allows institutions to determine what measures define their success.²⁶ MSCHE takes a different approach. While the agency specifically recommends measuring rates of retention, persistence, and completion, it does so indirectly. For example, an institution must show its commitment to these measures through its student supports or may use improvements in these measures as evidence of its effectiveness. In other words, retention, persistence, and graduation rates are indirect measures of quality.²⁷

Five of the 7 agencies included in this analysis require colleges to set goals on student performance. ACCJC, for example, has the most detailed standards on institution-set goals and requires colleges to set their own performance expectations.²⁸ The agency requires that institutions set performance goals on course completion rates, the number of degrees awarded, transfer rates, as well as job placement rates and licensure pass rates for every career and technical education program. Colleges are also required to set standards of performance on other measures they deem appropriate to their mission, such as graduation and retention rates. As part of colleges' self-studies, they must explain how they set the standard, how they evaluate their previous performance, and how their performance compares to their goal. ACCJC's method presents an alternative to national accreditors' minimum performance standards. Rather than set one bar all institutions must meet, the agency takes an individualized approach that requires each college to set its own benchmarks for acceptable performance.

Unlike other regional agencies', ACCJC's standards exemplify institutional flexibility that does not come at the expense of accountability. However, goal setting also has an inherent tension. On the one hand, goal setting ensures that colleges strive for improvement. On the other hand, even colleges with the worst performance get by without requiring further action. Overall, goal setting allows institutions to determine what level of success is appropriate based on their own unique contexts. While accreditors evaluate institutions' goals, they never define a minimum bar of performance that is acceptable for all institutions. In practice, some of these goals act more like minimum performance thresholds rather than goals to strive toward. At MiraCosta College, for example, some institution-set standards are below actual achievement.²⁹ A system that requires colleges to choose their own performance categories also makes it harder to compare performance consistently across colleges. Only 2 of the 7 regional accrediting agencies have standards that are focused on equity in outcomes. Both WSCUC and ACCJC require institutions to disaggregate and analyze performance data by demographic categories.³⁰ WSCUC requires institutions to disaggregate student data by demographic categories and areas of study, and ACCJC requires institutions to disaggregate and analyze learning and achievement outcomes by subpopulation. When an institution identifies a performance gap, it must provide resources to address and fix the gap and must evaluate the effectiveness of its strategies to do so.

Standards that focus on equity are important because they require that institutions go beyond overall performance indicators to ensure that they are serving all students well. Without a coordinated effort across agencies, however, colleges can miss some of the important gaps that occur within and across institutions.

Regional accreditors collect student outcome data but don't connect them to standards

TABLE 3 Many regional accreditors collect annual student outcome data

Student outcome indicators collected in annual report forms, by regional accrediting agency

Student outcome indcators	HLC	SACSCOC	MSCHE	NEASC	WSCUC	NWCCU	ACCJC
Enrollment rate	✓	✓	√ ∗	✓	√ ∗	✓	✓
Number of degrees awarded	\checkmark			\checkmark			\checkmark
Completion rate	\checkmark	\checkmark	√ ∗	\checkmark	√ ∗	\checkmark	\checkmark
Cohort default rate	✓		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	
Disclosure of student achievement	✓	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		
Retention rate			\checkmark			\checkmark	
Licensure pass rate							\checkmark
Transfer rate			\checkmark				\checkmark
Loan repayment rate			\checkmark	\checkmark			
Job placement rate for career and technical education programs							✓

Notes: * Indicates student outcome indicators that were disaggregated by demographic groups. For the Middle States Commission on Higher Commission on HighEducation, the indicators used in this table are newly proposed and will be fully implemented in 2018. The New England Association of Schools and Colleges and University Commission loan repayment is newly added in 2018.

Source: See Appendix; For the accreditor agencies' complete titles, see Table 1 in Antoinette Flores, "How College Accreditors Miss the Mark on Student Outcomes" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/?p=449937.

A review of required annual reporting forms shows that regional accreditors already collect data on numerous student outcome indicators each year. (see Appendix) This undercuts the common assumption and criticism of accreditors that they don't measure performance on even the most basic outcomes such as graduation rates. Table 3 shows which student outcome indicators are collected by each regional agency in annually filed forms.

All agencies collect annual data on enrollment and completion.³¹ Four agencies collect cohort default rate data—the percentage of a school's borrowers that enters repayment and defaults within three years. Three agencies check that outcome data are publicly disclosed on colleges' websites. Beyond these indicators, three agencies collect more information related to federal financial aid. HLC collects the percentage of Pell Grant recipients and the average Pell Grant received, which gives an indication of the college's low-income student enrollment and overall financial aid need.³² In addition, both NEASC and MSCHE recently began to collect student loan repayment rate data.³³

While these data collections are important, they are not well-connected to student outcome standards. For example, HLC standards require institutions to focus on persistence, retention, completion, and success after graduation³⁴, but it does not collect data on these measures annually.³⁵ NWCCU collects data on completion, default, and retention, but does not have specific standards related to these outcomes.³⁶ It is not clear how NEASC and MSCHE will use student loan repayment rate data, but as of now, the collection is not directly related to standards.³⁷

Without linking long-term data collection to standards, accreditors are unable to hold colleges accountable for what the data may show. Accreditors can only take action against an institution if it violates one or more of their standards. Therefore, how colleges perform on these measures does not directly factor into whether or not it should be accredited.

As part of its annual report, HLC has begun flagging colleges with weak graduation and persistence rates compared with their peers for follow-up.³⁸ The agency flags institutions that fall in the top percentages of the institutions' peers for further follow-up. Peers are defined as two-year small or large institutions or four-year small or large institutions. It is unclear what the follow-up consists of; how many institutions fall within this category; or whether the follow-up leads to further action.

ACCJC provides a good example of how to better connect annual data collection to standards. The agency's standards require institutions to set goals for specific outcomes, and its annual review form requires colleges to list each of its institution-set standards as well as its actual performance.³⁹ As a result, the agency can keep track of what colleges say they should achieve as a minimum benchmark, and then compare it with the colleges' actual performance.⁴⁰

Annual data collection processes mean that regional accreditors already have much of the necessary information and infrastructure in place to enhance their focus on student outcomes. But just because accreditors have the data does not mean they will use it to drive accountability. Accreditors need to decide what level of performance is adequate and what actions they will take when an institution is not up to par.

Aligning annual reports and standards would allow accreditors to set strong student outcome standards and collect data annually to hold institutions accountable. Without this connection and a history of data, accreditor standards fall short of actual accountability.

Without clear minimum standards, evaluating performance gets lost in the shuffle

A review of self-studies and accreditor team reports shows that even when an institution is reporting data, its actual performance on those measures can still be overlooked. As a result, accreditors and institutions may produce a great deal of documentation about how schools use and report data while never discussing what the data actually demonstrate in terms of results. A few examples show how this phenomenon plays out in practice.

Self-studies and site visit team reports can gloss over a long list of student outcome measures to prioritize improvement rather than accountability. NEASC, for example, requires institutions to include Data First forms as the basis of their selfstudy.⁴¹ These forms include data on a wide range of institutional characteristics and student outcomes such as student debt levels and rates of enrollment, retention, graduation, licensure passage, job placement, and default over several years. NEASC standards require that "[t]he institution demonstrates its effectiveness by ensuring satisfactory levels of student achievement on mission-appropriate student outcomes."42 Standards, however, do not define what level of performance is satisfactory. Without a clear definition, a college can meet a standard—even when, by its own admission, its performance is unsatisfactory.

Consider, for example, the self-study of Johnson State College (JSC), a small, public four-year college in Vermont serving 1,500 students. 43 As part of its 2016 NEASC self-study, the college reported a four-year graduation rate of between 15 and 17 percent and a six-year graduation rate of 35 percent. The college acknowledged that these rates are "low" and "daunting."44 While it has taken steps to improve, such as instituting early warning mechanisms and piloting tools for identifying at-risk students, the school's self-study admitted that this approach did not work and that a new plan is needed. JSC set a goal for the following year to increase the graduation rate to 27 percent, noting that it will continue to work on a strategy to improve the college's low graduation and retention rates.⁴⁵

The NEASC site visit team report acknowledged JSC's low performance but found its focus on improvement satisfactory.⁴⁶ It first mentioned the graduation and retention rates the college provided and noted that they were one set of indicators the college used to monitor effectiveness. It then acknowledged that these rates were lower than other Vermont colleges', but that JSC recognized its need for improvement. The report stated that the college had considerably higher graduation rates for Pell Grant students and first-generation college students. Furthermore, the report highlighted a promising initiative the college instituted—themed first-year learning communities—which were slowly improving first-year retention rates. At the end of the report, the visiting team listed the college's strengths and weaknesses. Among its strengths were JSC's commitment to student success and its investment in the first-year experience, both of which have improved retention. The site visit team did not mention anything related to student outcomes in its list of JSC's weaknesses, nor did it have any recommendations on how the school could improve. ⁴⁷ In other words, according to the visiting team report, JSC's efforts to improve its persistently low graduation rates were sufficient, despite that there had been little measurable improvement.

Standards' specificity does not lead to greater focus on actual performance

Whether or not an accreditor's standards include specific student outcome measures that must be examined does not appear to create a greater focus on performance. SACSCOC, HLC, and ACCJC's standards on student outcomes vary considerably in terms of their specificity. ACCJC requires specific, institution-set performance goals; HLC requires a focus on particular outcomes; and SACSCOC leaves performance up to institutions. Examples from each agency, however, show that all suffer from similar shortcomings.

Southern West Virginia Community and Technical College (SWVCTC) serves roughly 1,700 students and is accredited by HLC. 48 In its self-study, SWVCTC described its process of collecting and reporting data; mentioned its goals for improving the number of graduates; and detailed how it plans to do so, such as by revising developmental education. Nowhere in the self-study did the college assess its actual performance or improvement since its last review.⁴⁹ The HLC site team report also never discussed actual performance. It stated that the SWVCTC met the standard because it collected and reported data and had goals for improvement.⁵⁰

The SACSCOC review of the University of South Carolina (USC) Upstate contained similar issues. USC Upstate is a public four-year college serving just less than 6,000 students.⁵¹ In its own evaluation, the school provided detailed data on student outcomes, including retention and graduation rates, course completion, licensing examination results, and job placement. 52 The SACSCOC's final site visit report stated that USC Upstate regularly reports data and discusses its process for reporting data, but contained no analysis of the school's actual performance. The institution has a six-year graduation rate of 38 percent.⁵³

MiraCosta College is a public community college in California serving almost 15,000 students. It is accredited by ACCJC.⁵⁴ As part of its 2016 self-study, the college set its own goals for performance on indicators including the number of transfers to four-year colleges, persistence rates, and the number of degrees and certificates awarded in addition to required categories such as course completion and licensure pass rates. It also included detailed data on employment rates and program completion disaggregated by various student demographics.⁵⁵ ACCJC's site team report found the college in compliance because it had set standards, assessed them, and used results to lead improvement efforts. It did not focus on the college's actual performance on these indicators.⁵⁶

While ACCJC's approach is valuable and data-focused, it glosses over student outcomes without judging the college's performance or need for improvement. It allows low-performing colleges to meet the standards as long as they set goals, strive to achieve them, and implement improvements.

The gap between data collection and data use among regional accreditors has significant implications for students. Without a baseline standard for performance or improvement, accreditors likely end up measuring institutions' intentions and processes—not the actual results they achieved.

National accreditors focus on accountability of student outcome measures

In contrast to regional accreditors, the four national accreditation agencies have clear, quantifiable standards on student outcomes. These agencies' standards require institutions to meet minimum bars of performance each year based on various measures. Three of the 4 agencies require institutions to report outcomes at the program level. The one exception, NACCAS, primarily oversees cosmetology schools, so although it doesn't explicitly measure program-level outcomes, the colleges it oversees are typically singular programs.⁵⁷ Monitoring performance at the program level allows accreditors to further review or sanction individual programs rather than limit their examination to the institution as a whole.

TABLE 4 Some colleges must meet certain program performance benchmarks Performance benchmarks, by national accrediting agency

Accrediting agency	Graduation rate	Job placement rate	Licensure pass rate		
ACCSC	40-84%	70%	70%		
ACCET	67%	70%	National and state average		
COE	60%	70%	70%		
NACCAS	50%	60%	70%		

Sources: Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges, "ACCSC Standards of Accreditation," p. 128, available at http://www.accsc. org/UploadedDocuments/1971/ACCSC%20Standards%20of%20Accreditation%20and%20Bylaws%20-%20070117%20final.pdf (last accessed March 2018); Council on Occupational Education, "Policies and Rules of the Commission, 2017 Edition," p. 25, available at http://council. org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/2017-PR-Manual-AMENDED-4-25-2017-FINAL.pdf (last accessed March 2018); Accrediting Council for Continuing Education and Training, "Completion and Job Placement Policy," p. 2, available at http://s3.amazonaws.com/docs.accet.org/downloads/docs/doc28.pdf (last accessed March 2018); National Accrediting Commission of Career Arts and Sciences, "2017 Data Annual Report (last accessed March 2018).

For the accreditor agencies' complete titles, see Table 1 in Antoinette Flores, "How College Accreditors Miss the Mark on Student Outcomes" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/?p=449937

Although all national agencies consider student outcome data, what they look for and the benchmarks they set still vary a great deal. (see Figure 4) ACCSC, NACCAS, and COE, for example, each have minimum bars of performance on graduation, job placement, and licensure pass rates, while ACCET only requires performance benchmarks for graduation and job placement rates. 58 ACCSC requires programs to have a minimum completion rate that varies from as low

^{*}Correction, May 7: This table has been corrected to reflect the accurate graduation rate benchmarks for ACCET and COE.

as 40 percent for programs longer than 2 years to 84 percent for certificate and training programs that are 1-3 months long. 59 The three other national agencies have flat rates for graduation that vary from as low as 50 percent at NACCAS to 67 percent at COE.60

While clear performance benchmarks ensure a minimum bar of quality that institutions must meet, they are only worthwhile if the thresholds are ambitious and catch the worst performers. Variation in performance benchmarks means that institutional quality and the likelihood of success potentially depend on which accreditor oversees the school students attend.

It also matters how an agency sets its benchmarks. ACCSC, for example, sets its thresholds one standard deviation below the average performance among its institutions.⁶¹ This assumes that average performance is adequate. But if an established benchmark is set low enough that an overwhelming majority of institutions or programs pass, it does nothing to encourage improvement.

Performance benchmarks don't guarantee that poor outcomes will be fixed

Performance benchmarks set a clear line of what outcomes are acceptable, but the actions an agency takes when a college is underperforming can undermine accountability.

When a college underperforms, some agencies take a hard line, while others allow institutions flexibility in explaining their performance. For instance, programs that fail COE's benchmark are placed on warning and have one to two years to bring the program into compliance or be placed on probation. 62 Depending on how far below the threshold a program falls, ACCET may require additional reporting or issue a programmatic probation. 63 For example, if a college's job placement or completion rate falls between 56 percent and 69.9 percent, it is required to submit a report that includes a management plan for improving rates and a proposed timeframe for coming into compliance. Schools with performance rates that fall below 56 percent are placed on programmatic probation and are required to submit a report and detailed analysis. The accrediting agency may give institutions with low completion rates a reprieve if they have placement rates above the benchmark rate in that program.*

*Correction, May 7, 2018: This report was updated to reflect that ACCET commissioners may make an exception for underperformance if a program has a low completion rate but a higher-than-average job placement rate.

In another example, ACCSC can take a range of actions such as placing a program on heightened monitoring, warning, or probation; freezing enrollment; and revoking a program altogether. It also gives institutions the chance to demonstrate successful achievement by showing evidence of student learning or external factors—such as economic conditions, the student population it serves, or state and national trends—that might explain their inability to meet the benchmarks.⁶⁴ In November 2012, for example, ACCSC first acted to limit program enrollment at one of its schools with systemic student achievement problems. 65 These problems were widespread and included below benchmark performance in student outcomes at 9 of the school's 10 programs. The problems continued over the next five years, and although ACCSC took many actions—including warnings, probation, show cause, and eventually revoking approval of baccalaureate programs—the college remains accredited and on warning.⁶⁶

The procedures described above show that institutions are given considerable leeway and can remain accredited—even if they don't meet minimum performance benchmarks. How often accreditors accept alternative responses or measures as well as how long colleges remain accredited despite poor performance—is unclear, since information on when a college underperforms and the accreditors' decision process is typically not public. Without greater transparency on outcomes and sanctions, it is difficult to determine the effectiveness of these policies.

Annual reporting among national agencies focuses on compliance

Unlike regional agencies, national accreditors connect student outcomes directly to their standards and annual reporting requirements. Figure 5 shows that all four agencies track outcomes based on the performance benchmarks required in the agency standards. Collecting this information in annual reports ensures that colleges are meeting performance benchmarks each year—not just once every several years.

National agencies are also more likely to require institutions to report annually on red flags, such as whether or not the college is under investigation. Figure 5 shows what accreditors require institutions to include in their annual report. Three of the 4 national agencies ask institutions whether they have had any kind of negative audit at the state and federal level. Both ACCSC and ACCET require institutions to report on actions taken by other accreditors, complaints, and investigations.

In contrast, only two regional agencies ask about whether institutions were subject to adverse actions by another accreditor. This does not mean that regionals do not check this information; many require that institutions report any kind of negative action when it happens. HLC, for example, requires institutions to notify the agency when it receives an adverse action from another accrediting agency or if a state issues an action against the institution.⁶⁷ They do not ask institutions to provide this information in annual reporting. SACSCOC, however, asks about federal audits and actions by other accreditors in the interim report schools complete five years into their accreditation cycle.⁶⁸

TABLE 5 National accrediting agencies focus more on compliance in annual reporting

Indicators collected in annual reports, by national accrediting agency

Accrediting agency	Complaints or legal action	Federal review and audits	Reviews and audits by state	Actions by other accreditors		Completion rate	Cohort default rate	Job placement rate	Licensure pass rate
ACCSC	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
ACCET	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	
COE					✓	✓		✓	✓
NACCAS		✓	✓			✓		✓	✓

Sources: Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges, "Instructions for Completing the ACCSC 2016 Annual Report," available at http://www.accsc.org/UploadedDocuments/2016%20 July/2016%20Annual%20Report%20Instructions.pdf (last accessed March 2018); Accrediting Council for Continuing Education and Training, "Annual Report and Enrollment Statistics," available at http://docs.accet.org/downloads/docs/docs/doc12b.pdf (last accessed March 2018); Council on Occupational Education, "2017 Instructions for Excel CPL Worksheet," available at http://council.org/ applications-and-forms/; National Accrediting Commission of Career Arts and Sciences, "2017 Data Annual Report (Submitted in 2018) Instructions," available at https://naccasngo.sharepoint. com/:b/s/NACCASWeb/EV-vVsApwn9BoqT_DY6XbHMBHSMlYRw37dtkCt8gUhaTeA (last accessed March 2018); and National Accrediting Commission of Career Arts and Sciences, "Step 8: Annual Report Certification," available at https://naccasngo.sharepoint.com/ib/s/NACCASWeb/ERKDxOyOUeFDiJ6fruEdkAUBZgdrZe_xiPQyRxp1i6wq0A (last accessed March 2018) For the accreditor agencies' complete titles, see Table 1 in Antoinette Flores, "How College Accreditors Miss the Mark on Student Outcomes" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/?p=449937.

Part of why national accreditors are more likely to include compliance on annual reporting might have to do with the types of institutions these agencies oversee. National agencies mostly oversee for-profit colleges that historically have had more troublesome track records with cases of fraud than have public and private nonprofit colleges. Explicitly asking this information every year ensures that problematic institutions don't slip through the cracks.

^{*}Correction, May 7: This table has been updated to include the cohort default rate for ACCET.

Recommendations for accrediting agencies

As gatekeepers to federal student aid, accrediting agencies have a responsibility to ensure that institutions are high-quality in order to protect both students and taxpayers. CAP's review shows that, particularly among regional agencies, accreditors' lack of clear standards for student outcomes means that institutional performance is not sufficiently emphasized. There is no minimum student outcome result institutions must meet in order to be accredited, nor does low observed performance consistently trigger further examination. The result is that accredited institutions can easily fail their students. National agencies' clear performance standards and annual data collection processes do more to hold colleges accountable, but agencies are inconsistent and, in many cases, soft on enforcement.

Fortunately, CAP's review also shows that accreditors have an annual data collection process in place and already possess some of the data required to enhance their focus on outcomes. In order to fix these problems, there must be a stronger tie between data collection and standards. Below are recommendations for how accreditors can improve and hold colleges accountable.

Require collection and analysis of common student outcome data across accreditors

Variation in accreditors' measurements and in established bars of performance undermines agencies' goals of quality and accountability. Under the current system, an institution overseen by one agency must report one set of data, and an institution overseen by a different agency reports another set of data. The variation in what data is collected makes evaluating overall performance and drawing comparisons across institutions difficult.

Accreditors should agree upon what student outcome data to collect as a standard measure of quality across all agencies. Similar to the work done as part of the C-RAC pilot, both regional and national agencies should decide together what

data to collect and how to report it. This may require measures to differ based on institution type or mission, because outcomes for career-focused institutions or programs may not necessarily be the same as outcomes for liberal arts-focused institutions. Accreditors may also agree that community colleges and four-year colleges should be judged based on different measures. Furthermore, accreditors need multiple indicators that capture how students fare while they are enrolled such as retention and completion rates—and after they've left—such as job placement rates and student loan repayment.

Accreditors should also create a definition of each measure so that agencies can collect data in the same way. For example, while each of the national agencies consistently collect data on completion, job placement, and licensure pass rates, their definitions of each measure varies. Variation makes it difficult to compare performance across institutions. Regional agencies have all attempted to place a greater emphasis on completion rates through the C-RAC study but all found that the federal graduation rate does not accurately depict outcomes consistently across colleges.⁶⁹ Regional agencies can and should come up with their own measures to best capture student outcomes.

Include equity in data collection

Measuring institutions' overall performance is not enough. Accreditors should require institutions to disaggregate performance data by demographic groups including, at least, race, income, and gender—and ideally attendance status and students requiring developmental education as well. These measures are important to ensure institutions are achieving equitable outcomes for all students. Only two agencies require colleges to look at outcomes by demographics—such as race and income—to evaluate performance. WSCUC and ACCJC's standards that require colleges to disaggregate data represent great starting points for other agencies.⁷⁰ However, even these standards—which allow colleges to choose which measures and demographics they disaggregate—leave too much up to each college's discretion.

Better connect standards and annual data collection through clear performance expectations

Accreditors already have the foundations of an annual reporting process and years of student outcome data in place to enhance their reviews, but it's not always

clear how this information is factored into accreditation reviews and decisions. Agencies should revise their standards to articulate clear performance expectations. This does not necessarily mean accreditors should have a bright-line standard that automatically leads to a loss of federal financial aid when a school falls short. Instead, accreditors could create a standard that automatically triggers an in-depth review or a shortened accreditation cycle. Benchmarks should be established for measures beyond completion rates, such as loan default and repayment. Performance benchmarks can be designed to accomplish multiple goals by focusing attention on the lowest performers while also setting improvement goals for all institutions.

Accreditors should ensure that annually collected data feed into what schools will be measured against and need to discuss in their self-studies. This connection to standards also must ensure that accreditor reviews touch on the observed performance level—not just on the process and use of data. Connecting these processes ensures that when a college is judged against the standards, the judgment is grounded in years of performance data. It also guarantees that colleges are held accountable for a basic level of performance and improvement every year—not just when it is reaccredited.

Establish processes for data collection and accountability for lowperforming colleges

Establishing expectations for student outcomes that are connected to standards must be paired with instituting clearer processes for actions agencies should take if an institution's student outcomes fail to meet a benchmark performance level. Accreditors must agree on what happens to colleges that fall below established benchmarks and define a consistent timeline for colleges to show improvement. Measuring student outcomes and establishing benchmarks is meaningless without accountability for institutions that consistently fail to perform and fail to improve. Action must go beyond interim reporting, shortened accreditation cycles, and special visits—tactics accreditors sometimes use when colleges show serious problems.

Support a federal student-level data system

Creating a federal student-level data system (SLDS) would make it much easier for accreditors to collect and use disaggregated student outcome data. An SLDS would allow all institutions to report detailed data at the individual student level to the federal government rather than at the institution-wide level. Colleges currently report dozens of data elements ranging from enrollment and graduation rates to revenue and spending under federal law.⁷¹ They then provide substantial data to accreditors that may or may not line up with required federal reporting. This setup presents two main challenges. First, current data systems may not produce indicators that are useful for institutions or accreditors. Until October 2017, the federal graduation rate only included first-time, full-time students, excluding those who transferred or enrolled as part-time students. 72 Accreditors and institutions criticized this measure as a poor judge of institutional performance, which has weakened their ability to use it.⁷³ Second, the need to report data to both the federal government and accreditors creates a greater burden for institutions. A federal student-level data system would capture more accurate and complete student outcome data and decrease both the burden on colleges reporting data and the need for low-resourced accreditors to actively collect it.

Recommendations for Congress

Congress has the power to make legislative changes that would require accreditors to focus more on outcomes in a clear and consistent way. To do this, Congress should take the following steps.

Require accreditors to have benchmark standards on defined student outcomes

Current legislation requires accreditors to have standards on student achievement but does not define student achievement, which leaves it open to interpretation. It also gives colleges the authority to define success based on their institutional mission, so that successful student achievement can vary by individual school. While some variation based on unique institutional missions is important, there should be a baseline level of student outcome performance required in order for colleges to access federal dollars. Legislation should define which student outcomes accreditors should have standards on, such as graduation rates, student loan repayment, and default. These standards should clearly define the adequate level of performance as well as the agency's process when performance is not up to par. Federal reviews of accreditors should consider variation in the standards accreditors set to ensure that all are using best practices. National agencies, for example, set performance benchmarks that vary widely, and federal reviews only consider whether the agency has a standard—not whether the standard is adequate. Accreditors should be held accountable to ensure that their standards are adequate and in line with other agencies'.

Create loan repayment rate and default minimums

Policymakers should further bolster and support accreditors' efforts by creating performance benchmarks on outcomes specifically related to federal aid such as student loan repayment rates—and strengthen the cohort default rate already required. 74 Today, colleges are required to report cohort default rates—a measure of the percentage of student loan borrowers who default within three years after entering repayment. While important, the measure rarely results in colleges being sanctioned for poor performance.⁷⁵ The cohort default rate should be strengthened, and using repayment rates may help solve some of the problems with the measure.⁷⁶

Conclusion

As gatekeepers to federal aid dollars, accrediting agencies must ensure that colleges are providing a quality education and that America's higher education system is truly a generator of social and economic mobility. This report shows that, for the majority of accreditors, student outcomes are not a main priority and equity is mostly an afterthought. While the recent effort of C-RAC was a critical first step to addressing poor student outcomes, it does not amount to accountability. Fortunately, there is a path to fixing this problem. Actually doing so, however, will require building performance on student outcomes into accreditor standards. The lack of true accountability means accreditors avoid engaging with the poorest outcomes and fail to help institutions improve how well they serve students in a tangible way.

For regional accreditors, change means implementing minimum performance indicators that trigger meaningful action and require improvement. For national accreditors, improvement means ensuring benchmarks are strong and taking action against low-performing colleges instead of giving them additional chances. The opportunity to ensure strong student outcomes in postsecondary education exists—accreditors just have to be willing to take it.

About the author

Antoinette Flores is an associate director for Postsecondary Education Policy at the Center for American Progress. Her work focuses on improving quality assurance, access, and affordability in higher education.

Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank Mary Ellen Petrisko, former president of WSCUC, and Dr. Susan Phillips, professor at the State University at Albany and former chair and current member of the National Advisory Committee on Institutional Quality and Integrity, for providing expert feedback.

Appendix

This Appendix contains a complete list of sources reviewed for regional accrediting agencies, including institutional self-studies, accreditor team visit reports, and standards the author defines as student outcome standards by agency. Standard language is taken directly from the accreditor sources cited below.

NEASC

Documents

- 1. Standards for accreditation, effective July 1, 2016⁷⁷
- 2. Data First forms⁷⁸
- 3. Statement on Student Achievement and Success Data Forms⁷⁹
- 4. Annual data 80

Standards related to student outcomes:

- 5.6: The institution demonstrates its ability to admit students who can be successful in the institution's academic program, including specifically recruited populations. The institution's goals for retention and graduation reflect institutional purposes, and the results are used to inform recruitment and the review of programs and services.
- Standard 8: The institution demonstrates its effectiveness by ensuring satisfactory levels of student achievement on mission-appropriate student outcomes. Based on verifiable information, the institution understands what its students have gained as a result of their education and has useful evidence about the success of its recent graduates.
 - 8.5: The institution uses a variety of quantitative and qualitative methods and direct and indirect measures to understand the experiences and learning outcomes of its students.
 - 8.6: The institution defines measures of student success and levels of achievement appropriate to its mission, modalities and locations of instruction, and student body, including any specifically recruited populations. These measures include rates of progression, retention, transfer, and graduation; default and loan repayment rates; licensure passage rates; and employment.

- 8.7: The institution uses additional quantitative measures of success, such as further education, civic participation, religious formation, and others, as appropriate to its mission, to understand the success of its recent graduates. Information from students and former students is regularly considered.
- 8.8: The results of assessment and quantitative measures of student success are a demonstrable factor in the institution's efforts to improve the learning opportunities and results for students.
- 9.24: The institution publishes statements of its goals for students' education and the success of students in achieving those goals. Information on student success includes rates of retention and graduation and other measures of student success appropriate to institutional mission. If applicable, recent information on passage rates for licensure examinations is also published
- 9.25: The institution publishes information about the total cost of education and net price, including the availability of financial aid and the typical length of study. The expected amount of student debt upon graduation and the institution's cohort default and loan repayment rates are published to help students and prospective students make informed decisions.

Institutions:

- 1. Johnson State College, 2016⁸¹
- 2. University of Massachusetts, Boston, 201682

HLC

Documents:

- Criteria for Accreditation, effective January 2013⁸³
- Obligations of Affiliation⁸⁴
- Federal compliance requirements⁸⁵
- Assumed practices in Effect Prior to September 1, 2017⁸⁶
- 2018 Institutional Update Questions⁸⁷

Standards related to student outcomes:

• 4.A.6.: The institution evaluates the success of its graduates. The institution assures that the degree or certificate programs it represents as preparation for advanced study or employment accomplish these purposes. For all programs, the institution looks to indicators it deems appropriate to its mission, such as employment rates, admission rates to advanced degree programs, and participation rates in fellowships, internships, and special programs (e.g., Peace Corps and AmeriCorps).

- 4.C.: The institution demonstrates a commitment to educational improvement through ongoing attention to retention, persistence, and completion rates in its degree and certificate programs.
 - 4.C.1: The institution has defined goals for student retention, persistence, and completion that are ambitious but attainable and appropriate to its mission, student populations, and education offerings.
 - 4.C.2.: The institution collects and analyzes information on student retention, persistence, and completion of its programs.
 - 4.C.3.: The institution uses information on student retention, persistence, and completion of its programs to make improvements as warranted by the data.
 - 4.C.4.: The institution's processes and methodologies for collecting and analyzing information on student retention, persistence, and completion of programs reflect good practice. (Institutions are not required to use IPEDS definitions in their determination).

Institutions:

- 1. Southern West Virginia Community and Technical College, 2013⁸⁸
- 2. Arizona State University, 201389

SACSCOC

- 1. The Principles of Accreditation: Foundations for Quality Enhancements, effective January 1, 201290
- 2. The Principles of Accreditation: Foundations for Quality Enhancements, effective January 1, 201891

- 3. Resource Manual for the Principles of Accreditation: Foundations for Quality Enhancement, 2018⁹²
- 4. Reaffirmation of Accreditation and Subsequent Reports⁹³
- 5. Compliance Certification⁹⁴
- 6. Handbook for Institutions Seeking Reaffirmation⁹⁵
- 7. Portions of annual report and finance forms⁹⁶
- 8. Quality Enhancement Plan Guidelines⁹⁷

Standards related to student outcomes:

- 2012: 4.1.: The institution evaluates success with respect to student achievement consistent with its mission. Criteria may include: enrollment data; retention, graduation, course completion, and job placement rates; state licensing examinations; student portfolios; or other means of demonstrating achievement of goals.
- 2018: 8.1.: The institution identifies, evaluates, and publishes goals and outcomes for student achievement appropriate to the institution's mission, the nature of the students it serves, and the kinds of programs offered. The institution uses multiple measures to document student success.

Institutions

- 1. Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College, 201398
- 2. University of South Carolina Upstate, 201199

MSCHE

- 1. Characteristics of Excellence in Higher Education: Requirements of Affiliation and Standards for Accreditation, last revised March 2011¹⁰⁰
- 2. Standards for Accreditation and Requirements for Affiliation, effective the 2017-18 academic year¹⁰¹
- 3. Institutional Report Template: Verification of Compliance With Accreditation-Relevant Federal Regulations¹⁰²
- 4. Self-Study: Creating a Useful Process and Report¹⁰³
- 5. Overview of the Annual Institutional Update¹⁰⁴

Standards related to student outcomes:

- 2011: Standard 8: The institution seeks to admit students whose interests, goals, and abilities are congruent with its mission and seeks to retain them through the pursuit of the students' educational goals. An accredited institution is expected to possess or demonstrate ... ongoing assessment of student success, including but not necessarily limited to retention, that evaluates the match between the attributes of admitted students and the institution's mission and programs, and reflects its findings in its admissions, remediation, and other related policies.
- 2011: Standard 14: Assessment of student learning demonstrates that ... students have knowledge, skills, and competencies consistent with institutional and appropriate higher education goals. Indirect evidence, including retention, graduation, placement rates and surveys of students and alumni, can be vital ... but such information alone is insufficient.
- 2017-18: Standard IV: The institution commits to student retention, persistence, completion, and success through a coherent and effective support system sustained by qualified professionals, which enhances the quality of the learning environment, contributes to the educational experience, and fosters student success.
- 2017-18: Standard V.2.b.: Articulate how they prepare students in a manner consistent with their mission for successful careers, meaningful lives, and, where appropriate, further education. They should collect and provide data on the extent to which they are meeting these goals.

Institutions

- 1. The Pennsylvania State University, 2015¹⁰⁵
- 2. Hostos Community College of The City University of New York, 2012¹⁰⁶

WSCUC

- 1. 2013 Handbook of Accreditation Revised¹⁰⁷
- 2. Handbook of Accreditation 2013 Revised Quick Reference Guide¹⁰⁸
- 3. 2013 Standards at a Glance¹⁰⁹
- 4. Title IV Compliance Policy¹¹⁰

- 5. Using Evidence in the WSCUC Accreditation Process: A Guide for Institutions¹¹¹
- 6. Annual Report Submission Guide¹¹²

Standards related to student outcomes

Standard 2.10: The institution demonstrates that students make timely progress toward the completion of their degrees and that an acceptable proportion of students complete their degrees in a timely fashion, given the institution's mission, the nature of the students it serves, and the kinds of programs it offers. The institution collects and analyzes student data, disaggregated by appropriate demographic categories and areas of study. It tracks achievement, satisfaction, and the extent to which the campus climate supports student success. The institution regularly identifies the characteristics of its students; assesses their preparation, needs, and experiences; and uses these data to improve student achievement.

2.10 Guidelines: The institution disaggregates data according to racial, ethnic, gender, age, economic status, disability, and other categories, as appropriate. The institution benchmarks its retention and graduation rates against its own aspirations as well as the rates of peer institutions.

Institutions

- 1. San Diego State University, 2015¹¹³
- 2. California State University San Marcos, 2015¹¹⁴

ACCJC

Documents

- 1. Accreditation Standards, adopted June 2014¹¹⁵
- 2. Eligibility Requirements for Accreditation¹¹⁶
- 3. Policy on Institutional Compliance with Title IV¹¹⁷
- 4. 2018 Annual Report and Example of Annual Report-Kapi'olani Community College¹¹⁸
- 5. Institution and Team Guidance for ACCJC Standard I.B.3 (Institution-set Standards)119

Standards related to student outcomes:

• I.A.2.: The institution uses data to determine how effectively it is accomplishing

its mission, and whether the mission directs institutional priorities in meeting the educational needs of students.

- I.B.1.: The institution demonstrates a sustained, substantive and collegial dialog about student outcomes, student equity, academic quality, institutional effectiveness, and continuous improvement of student learning and achievement.
- I.B.3.: The institution establishes institution-set standards for student achievement, appropriate to its mission, assesses how with it is achieving them in pursuit of continuous improvement, and publishes this information.
- I.B.6.: The institution disaggregates and analyzes learning outcomes and achievement for subpopulations of students. When the institution identifies performance gaps, it implements strategies, which may include allocation or reallocation of human, fiscal and other resources, to mitigate those gaps and evaluates the efficacy of those strategies.
- II.A.1.: All instructional programs, regardless of location or means of delivery, including distance education and correspondence education, are offered in fields of study consistent with the institution's mission, are appropriate to higher education, and culminate in student attainment of identified student learning outcomes, and achievement of degrees, certificates, employment, or transfer to other higher education programs.

Institutions

- 1. MiraCosta College, 2016¹²⁰
- 2. Napa Valley College, 2015¹²¹

NWCCU

- 1. Standards for Accreditation, 2010¹²²
- 2. NWCCU Standards, updated¹²³
- 3. 2017 Annual Report¹²⁴

Standards related to student outcomes:

- 1.B.2.: The institution establishes objectives for each of its core themes and identifies meaningful, assessable, and verifiable indicators of achievement that form the basis for evaluating accomplishment of the objectives of its core themes.
- 4.A.1.: The institution engages in ongoing systematic collection and analysis of meaningful, assessable, and verifiable data—quantitative and/or qualitative, as appropriate to its indicators of achievement—as the basis for evaluating the accomplishment of its core theme objectives.
- 4.A.2.: The institution engages in an effective system of evaluation of its programs and services, wherever offered and however delivered, to evaluate achievement of clearly identified program goals or intended outcomes.

Institutions

- 1. Eastern Washington University, 2015¹²⁵
- 2. Bellingham Technical College, 2014¹²⁶

Endnotes

- 1 Andrea Fuller and Douglas Belkin, "The Watchdogs of College Education Rarely Bite," The Wall Street Journal, June 17, 2015, available at https://www.wsj.com/ articles/the-watchdogs-of-college-education-rarelybite-1434594602; The Editorial Board, "College Accreditors Need Higher Standards," The New York Times, October, 20, 2016, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2016/10/20/opinion/college-accreditors-needhigher-standards.html.
- 2 EAB, "Accreditors Crack Down on Graduation Rates," September 23, 2016, available at https://www.eab.com/ daily-briefing/2016/09/23/accreditors-crack-down-ongraduation-rates.
- 3 Andrew Kreighbaum, "Tougher Scrutiny for Colleges With Low Graduation Rates," Inside Higher Ed, September 21, 2016, available at https://www.insidehighered. com/news/2016/09/21/regional-accreditors-refocusinstitutions-low-grad-rates.
- 4 Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions, "Regional accreditors announce expended review of institutions with low graduation rates," Press release, September 21, 2016, available at https://www.c-rac. org/single-post/2016/09/21/Regional-accreditorsannounce-expanded-review-of-institutions-with-low-
- 5 Doug Lederman, "No Love, But No Alternative," Inside Higher Ed, September 1, 2015, available at https:// www.insidehighered.com/news/2015/09/01/accreditation-will-change-survive.
- 6 Council of Regional Accrediting Agencies, "C-RAC Releases One-Year Review of Institutions with Low Graduation Rates," Press release, February 6, 2018, available at https://www.c-rac.org/single-post/2018/02/06/C-RAC-Releases-One-Year-Review-of-Institutions-with-Low-Graduation-Rates.
- 7 Office of Federal Student Aid, 2016 Annual Report (U.S. Department of Education, 2016), available at https:// studentaid.ed.gov/sa/sites/default/files/FY_2016_Annual_Report_508.pdf.
- 8 Financial Web, "The Long-Term Effects of a Defaulted Student Loan," available at https://www.finweb.com/ loans/the-long-term-effects-of-a-defaulted-studentloan.html (last accessed March 2018).
- 9 Doug Shapiro and others, "Completing College: A National View of Student Completion Rates—Fall 2011 Cohort" (Herndon, VA: The National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2017), available at https://nscresearchcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/SignatureReport14_Final.pdf; Ben Miller, "Who Are Student Loan Defaulters?", (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-postsecondary/ reports/2017/12/14/444011/student-loan-defaulters/.
- 10 U.S. Department of Education, "Regional and National Institutional Accrediting Agencies," available at https:// www2.ed.gov/admins/finaid/accred/accreditation pg6.html (last accessed March 2018).
- 11 Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Homepage," available at http://www. sacscoc.org/ (last accessed March 2018).
- 12 C.F.R. § 602.16.

- 13 Higher Education Opportunity Act, H. Rept 4137, 110 Cong. (Government Printing Office, 2008), available at https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-110publ315/ html/PLAW-110publ315.htm.
- 14 Council for Higher Education Accreditation, "Fact Sheet #5: Accrediting Organizations in the United States: How Do They Operate to Assure Quality?", available at https://www.chea.org/userfiles/CHEA%20Fact%20 Sheets/fact_sheet_5_operation.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 15 Ibid.
- 16 Antoinette Flores, "Watching the Watchdogs: A Look at What Happens When Accreditors Sanction Colleges" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2006), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ education-postsecondary/reports/2016/06/21/139529/ watching-the-watchdogs/.
- 17 Generally, periodic reporting processes vary widely across regional agencies. For example, NWCCU has a seven-year accreditation cycle and requires colleges to submit self-study reports in the first, third, and seventh years of their cycle. The MSCHE previously had a 10year accreditation cycle and required a periodic review at the five-year point. It just recently switched to an eight-year accreditation cycle and requires a midpoint peer review. See Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities, "Accreditation Process," available at http://www.nwccu.org/accreditation/accreditationprocess/ (last accessed March 2018); Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Media Backgrounder—2018," available at http://www.msche.org/ documents/MediaBackgrounder2018.pdf (last accessed March 2018). Among national agencies—which tend to have much shorter accreditation cycles—outside of the formal self-study, institutions file annual reports and interim reports as requested. See The Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges, "Standards of Accreditation" (2017), available at http://www.accsc. org/UploadedDocuments/1971/ACCSC%20Standards 20of 20 Accreditation 20 and 20 Bylaws 20 -%20070117%20final.pdf; Council on Occupational Education, "Maintaining Accreditation," available at http://council.org/maintaining-accreditation/ (last accessed March 2018).
- 18 WASC Senior College and University Commission, "WASC Sets Example of Accountability, Transparency in Higher Education," Press release, July 9, 2012, available at https://www.wscuc.org/annoucements/wasc-setsexample-accountability-transparency-higher-educa-
- 19 Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges Western Association of Schools and Colleges, "Policy on Public Disclosure and Confidentiality in the Accreditation Process," available at http://accjc.org/ wp-content/uploads/Public-Disclosure-and-Confidentiality-in-the-Accreditation-Process.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 20 New England Association of Schools and Colleges Commission on Institutions of Higher Education, "Standards (Effective July 1, 2016)," available at https://cihe.neasc. org/standards-policies/standards-accreditation/standards-effective-july-1-2016 (last accessed March 2018).
- 21 Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Standards for Accreditation and Requirements of Affiliation" (2015), available at https://www.msche.org/publications/RevisedStandardsFINAL.pdf.

- 22 Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Characteristics of Excellence in Higher Education: Requirements of Affiliation and Standards for Accreditation" (2011), available at https://www.msche.org/publications/CHX-2011-WEB.pdf.
- 23 See standard 4.C. in Higher Learning Commission, "Policy Title: Criteria for Accreditation," available at https://www.hlcommission.org/Policies/criteria-andcore-components.html (last accessed March 2018).
- 24 See standard 2.10. in WASC Senior College and University Commission, "Handbook of Accreditation 2013 Revised," available at https://www.wscuc.org/book/ export/html/924 (last accessed March 2018).
- 25 See standard 8.1 in Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Resource Manual for the Principles of Accreditation: Foundations for Quality Enhancement" (2018), available at http:// www.sacscoc.org/pdf/2018%20POA%20Resource%20 Manual.pdf.
- 26 See standards 1.B.2 and 4.A.1 in Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities, "NWCCU Standards," available at http://www.nwccu.org/accreditation/standardspolicies/standards/ (last accessed March 2018).
- 27 See standards IV and V.3.g. in Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Standards for Accreditation and Requirements of Affiliation."
- 28 Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "Accreditation Standards" (2014), available at https://accjc.org/wp-content/uploads/Accreditation-Standards_-Adopted-June-2014.pdf.
- 29 MiraCosta Community College District, "Institutional Self Evaluation Report in Support of Reaffirmation of Accreditation" (2016), available at http://www. miracosta. edu/office of the president/accreditation/downous and the president of the prenloads/2016MCCDInstitutionalSelf-EvaluationReport-Web9.1.2016_000.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 30 See standard 2.10. in WASSC Senior College and University Commission, "Handbook of Accreditation 2013 Revised"; see standard I.B.6. in Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "Accreditation Standards."
- 31 See Appendix.
- 32 Higher Learning Commission, "2018 Institutional Update Questions," available at http://download.hlcom $mission.org/Institutional Update Guide_PRC.pdf~(last$ accessed March 2018).
- 33 New England Association of Schools and Colleges, "2017 Annual Report Main Menu," received from the agency via email and on file with the author; W. Allen Richman, "Overview of the Annual Institutional Update," Middle States Commission on Higher Education, available at http://www.msche.org/documents/AIUPresentationFall2017.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 34 Higher Learning Commission, "Policy Title: Criteria for Accreditation.
- 35 Higher Learning Commission, "2018 Institutional Update Questions."
- 36 Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities, "NWCCU 2017 Annual Report," available at http://www. nwccu.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/2017-Annual-Report-PDF-version.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 37 New England Association of Schools and Colleges. "2017 Annual Report Main Menu"; Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Overview of the Annual Institutional Update."

- 38 Higher Learning Commission, "Financial and Non-financial Indicators," available at https://www.hlcommission. org/Accreditation/indicators.html (last accessed March 2018).
- 39 Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "2018 Annual Report," received from the agency via email and on file with the author.
- 40 See example of previous ACCJC annual report form, Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "Kapi'olani Community College, 2017 Annual Report," available at https://www.kapiolani.hawaii.edu/ wp-content/uploads/2014/07/2017-ACCJC-Annual-Report.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 41 Commissions on Institutions of Higher Education: New England Association of Schools and College, "Data First Forms," available at https://cihe.neasc.org/ institutional-reports-resources/institutional-data-forms (last accessed March 2018).
- 42 New England Association of Schools and Colleges, "Standards (Effective July 1, 2016)."
- 43 National Center for Education Statistics, "College Navigator: Johnson State College," available at https://nces. ed.gov/collegenavigator/?g=Johnson+State+College& s=all&id=230913 (last accessed March 2018).
- 44 Johnson State College, "2016 Self-Study Report" (2016), p. 98, available at http://www.jsc.edu/images/uploads/ PDFs/JSC_NEASC_SelfStudy.pdf (last accessed March
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 Cynthia E. Huggins and others, "Report to the Faculty, Administration, Trustees, and Students of Johnson State College, Johnson, Vermont, by an Evaluation Team representing the Commission on Institutions of higher Education of the New England Association of Schools and Colleges" (2016), p. 24, available at http:// www.jsc.edu/images/uploads/PDFs/2017_01_Visiting-TeamReport.pdf.
- 47 Ibid, p.32-33.
- 48 National Center for Education Statistics, "College Navigator: Southern West Virginia Community and Technical College," available at https://nces.ed.gov/collegenaviga tor/?q=Southern+West+Virginia+Community+and+Te chnical+College&s=all&id=237817 (last accessed March 2018).
- 49 Southern West Virginia Community and Technical College, "'A Roadmap for Success': Self-Study Report 2010-2013" (2013), available at http://selfstudy.southernwv.edu/sites/default/files/southern_wv_ctc_document 1 02 13 0.pdf.
- 50 Sally Winship and others, "Report of a Comprehensive Evaluation Visit to Southern West Virginia Community and Technical College for The Higher Learning Commission" (2013), p. 29-30, available at http://selfstudy. southernwv.edu/sites/default/files/southern_west_virginia_ctc_final_report.pdf.
- 51 National Center for Education Statistics, "College Navigator: University of South Carolina-Upstate," available at https://nces.ed.gov/collegenavigator/?q=South+Ca rolina+Upstate&s=all&id=218742 (last accessed March
- 52 University of South Carolina Upstate, "SACS: Compliance Report," available at https://web.archive.org/ web/20150318203357/http://www.uscupstate.edu/ sacs/table.aspx?id=36463 (last accessed March 2018).

- 53 Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Report of the Reaffirmation Committee" (2011), p. 41, available at https://www.uscupstate. edu/globalassets/about-the-university/sacsco/final-offsite-report/final-off-site-report---for-webpage.pdf.
- 54 National Center for Education Statistics, "College Navigator: MiraCosta College," available at https:// nces.ed.gov/collegenavigator/?q=MiraCosta&s=all& id=118912 (last accessed March 2018).
- 55 MiraCosta Community College District, "Institutional Self Evaluation Report in Support of Reaffirmation of Accreditation"
- 56 Frank P. Gornick and others, "External Evaluation Report" (2016), available at http://www.miracosta.edu/ office of the president/accreditation/downloads/2016AC CJCExternalTeamReport_02_03_2017.pdf.
- 57 National Accrediting Commission of Career Arts & Sciences, "Accredited School Search," available at http:// naccas.org/naccas/accredited-school-search (last accessed March 2018).
- 58 The Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges, "Standards of Accreditation," p. 128; Council on Occupational Education, "Policies and Rules of the Commission, 2017 Edition," (2017), p. 25, available at http://council.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/2017-PR-Manual-AMENDED-4-25-2017-FINAL.pdf; Accrediting Council for Continuing Education and Training, "Completion and Job Placement Policy," p. 2, available at http://s3.amazonaws.com/docs.accet. org/downloads/docs/doc28.pdf (last accessed March 2018); National Accrediting Commission of Career Arts and Sciences, "2017 Data Annual Report (Submitted in 2018) Instructions," available at https://naccasngo. sharepoint.com/:b:/s/NACCASWeb/EV-vVsApwn9BogT DY6XbHMBHSMIYRw37dtkCt8gUhaTeA

(last accessed March 2018).

- 59 The Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges, "Standards of Accreditation," p. 128.
- 60 Council on Occupational Education, "Policies and Rules of the Commission, 2017 Edition"; Accrediting Council for Continuing Education and Training, "Completion and Job Placement Policy," p. 2; National Accrediting Commission of Career Arts and Sciences, "2017 Data Annual Report Instructions."
- 61 Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges, "Instructions for Completing the ACCSC 2016 Annual Report," available at http://www.accsc.org/UploadedDocuments/2016%20July/2016%20Annual%20 Report%20Instructions.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 62 Council on Occupational Education, "Policies and Rules of the Commission 2017 Edition," p. 25.
- 63 Accrediting Council for Continuing Education and Training, "Completion and Job Placement Policy" (2017), p. 2-3, available at http://s3.amazonaws.com/ docs.accet.org/downloads/docs/doc28.pdf.
- 64 The Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges, "Standards of Accreditation," p. 102-103.
- 65 Letter from the Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges to CollegeAmerica-Denver, February 12, 2018, available at http://www. accsc.org/UploadedDocuments/Commission%20 Actions/2018/001507-SAL-08-2017_Redacted.pdf.
- 66 Ibid.

- 67 Higher Learning Commission, "2016 Resource Guide" (2016), available at http://download.hlcommission.org/ annual-conference/2016/ResourceGuide_2016-04_INFlores.pdf.
- 68 Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "The Fifth-Year Interim Report: Information, Forms, and Timeliness," available at http:// www.sacscoc.org/FifthYear.asp (last accessed March
- 69 Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions, "Regional accreditors announce expanded review of institutions with low graduation rates," Press release, September 21, 2016, available at https://www.c-rac. org/single-post/2016/09/21/Regional-accreditorsannounce-expanded-review-of-institutions-with-lowgraduation-rates.
- 70 See Standard 2.10 in WASC Senior College and University Commission, "Handbook of Accredition 2013 Revised"; See Standard I.B.6. in Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "Accredition Standards," (2014) available at https://accjc.org/wp-content/ uploads/Accreditation-Standards_-Adopted-June-2014.
- 71 National Center for Education Statistics, "Statutory Requirements for Reporting IPEDS Data," available at https://surveys.nces.ed.gov/ipeds/ViewContent. aspx?contentId=18 (last accessed March 2018).
- 72 Doug Lederman, "The New, Improved IPEDS," Inside Higher Ed, October 12, 2017, available at https://www. insidehighered.com/news/2017/10/12/new-federalhigher-ed-outcome-measures-count-part-time-adultstudents.
- 73 Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions, "A One-Year Review of the Council of Regional Accrediting Commissions' Graduate Rate Information Project," (2018), available at https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/68d 6c2_5bc3e173acf242e585c4c07fc8660dd9.pdf.
- 74 Ben Miller, "Putting Students First in College Accountability," Center for American Progress, February 1, 2018, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ education-postsecondary/news/2018/02/01/445744/ putting-students-first-college-accountability/.
- 75 Ben Miller, "Improving Federal Accountability for Higher Education" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-postsecondary/reports/2017/10/24/440931/improving-federal-accountability-for-higher-education/.
- 76 Ibid.
- 77 New England Association of Schools and Colleges. "Standards (Effective July 1, 2016),"
- 78 Commissions on Institutions of Higher Education: New England Association of Schools and Colleges, "Data
- 79 New England Association of Schools and Colleges, "Statement on Student Achievement and Success" Data Forms," available at https://cihe.neasc.org/sites/ cihe.neasc.org/files/downloads/DataFormInfo/Statement%20on%20Student Achievement and Success_Data_Forms.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 80 New England Association of Schools and Colleges, "2017 Annual Report Main Menu."

- 81 Johnson State College, "2016 Self-Study Report"; Johnson State College, "Report to the Faculty, Administration, Trustees, and Students of Johnson State College by an Evaluation Team representing the New England Association of Schools and Colleges.'
- 82 University of Massachusetts Boston, "Institutional Self-Study" (2015), available at https://www.umb.edu/ editor_uploads/images/university/UMass_Boston_Self-Study_2015XX.pdf; Daniel M. Fogel and others, "Report to the Faculty, Administration, Trustees, Students of the University of Massachusetts, Boston, by an Evaluation Team representing the New England Association of Schools and Colleges" (2015), available at https://www. umb.edu/editor_uploads/images/university/UMASS_ BOSTON_NEASC_EVALUATION_TEAM_REPORT_2015. pdf.
- 83 Higher Learning Commission, "Policy Title: Criteria for Accreditation.'
- 84 Higher Learning Commission, "Policy Title: Obligations of Affiliation," available at https://www.hlcommission. org/Policies/obligations-of-affiliation.html (last accessed March 2018).
- 85 Higher Learning Commission, "Section 2: Required by Federal Regulation," available at https://www. hlcommission.org/Policies/federal-regulation.html (last accessed March 2018).
- 86 Higher Learning Commission, "Appendix: Assumed Practices in Effect Prior to September 1, 2017," available at https://www.hlcommission.org/Policies/assumedpractices-prior-to-september-2017.html (last accessed March 2018).
- 87 Higher Learning Commission, "2018 Institutional Update Ouestions."
- 88 Southern West Virginia Community and Technical College, "'A Roadmap for Success': Self-Study Report 2010-2013 " (2013), available at http://selfstudy.southernwv.edu/sites/default/files/southern_wv_ctc_document_1_02_13_0.pdf; Sally Winship and others, "Report of a Comprehensive Evaluation Visit to Southern West Virginia Community and Technical College for The Higher Learning Commission."
- 89 Arizona State University, "2013 Self-Study Report" (2013), available at https://web.archive.org/ web/20141114120250/http:/hlc2013.asu.edu:80/sites/ default/files/requiredmaterials/ArizonaStateUniversity Doc.I_Self-StudyReport_01-13.pdf; W. Randy Smith and others, "Report of a Comprehensive Evaluation Visit to Arizona State University for the Higher Learning Commission "(2013), available at https://public.azregents. edu/Shared%20Documents/2013-09-25-Item-3-Appendix-1-ASU-HLC-Accreditation-Report.pdf.
- 90 Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "The Principles of Accreditation: Foundations for Quality Enhancement" (2012), available at http://www.sacscoc.org/pdf/2012PrinciplesOfAcredit ation.pdf.
- 92 Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Resource Manual for the Principles of Accreditation.'
- 93 Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Reaffirmation of Accreditation and Subsequent Reports," available at http://www.sacscoc. org/pdf/081705/reaffirmationpolicy.pdf (last accessed March 2018).

- 94 Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Templates for the Compliance Certification," available at http://www.sacscoc.org/ cctemplates.asp (last accessed March 2018).
- 95 Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Handbook for Institutions Seeking Reaffirmation" (2018), available at http://www.sacscoc. org/pdf/081705/Handbook%20for%20Institutions%20 seeking%20reaffirmation.pdf.
- 96 Sent to the author via email from accrediting agency.
- 97 Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Quality Enhancement Plan Guidelines," available at http://www.sacscoc.org/pdf/ Quality%20Enhancement%20Plan%20Guidelines.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 98 Louisiana State University and A&M College, "2014 SACSCOC Reaffirmation of Accreditation Compliance Certification Report," available at https://w.taskstream. com/ts/werline1/LouisianaStateUniversityandAM-College.html (last accessed March 2018); Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Preliminary Report of the Reaffirmation Committee" (2013), available at https://w.taskstream.com/ ts/wer line 1/Louisiana State University and AMC ol lege.html/fkfffx00f9eaf9eefdfifgfg.
- 99 University of South Carolina Upstate, "SACS: Compliance Report"; Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, "Report of the Reaffirmation Committee" (2011), available at https://www. uscupstate.edu/globalassets/about-the-university/ sacsco/final-off-site-report/final-off-site-report---forwebpage.pdf.
- 100 Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Characteristics of Excellence in Higher Education."
- 101 Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Standards for Accreditation and Requirements of Affiliation."
- 102 Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Verification of Compliance with Accreditation-Relevant Federal Regulations: Institutional Report Template," available at http://www.msche.org/publications/Compliance_InstitutionalTemplate2017.docx (last accessed
- 103 Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Self Study: Creating a Useful Process and Report" (2012). available at http://www.msche.org/publications/Self-Study2012FINAL.pdf.
- 104 Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Overview of the Annual Institutional Update," available at http://www.msche.org/documents/AIUPresentationFall2017.pdf (last accessed March 2018): Middle States Commission on Higher Education, "Annual Institutional Update," available at https://www.msche. org/?Nav1=INSTITUTIONS&Nav2=IP (last accessed March 2018).
- 105 The Pennsylvania State University, "Living the Land-Grant Mission in a Global Context: Institutional Self-Study" (2013), available at http://middlestates.psu. edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/11525/2015/01/Penn-State-MSCHE-Self-Study-January-13-2015.pdf; William E. Kirwan, "Report of The Pennsylvania State University by An Evaluation Team Representing Middle States Commission on Higher Education" (2015), available at http://middlestates.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/ sites/11525/2014/04/2015-MSCHE-Evaluation-Team-Report.pdf.

- 106 Eugenio María de Hostos Community College of The City University of New York, "Institutional Self-Study Report" (2012), available at http://www.hostos.cuny.edu/ getmedia/970b1adc-4b27-44c9-85d1-0ecdeeb39ad7/ Institutional-Self-Study-Report-(Feb-2012).aspx; Robert C. Messina Jr. and others, "Report to the Faculty, Administration, Trustees, and Students of Eugenio María de Hostos Community College by a Team Representing the Middle States Commission on Higher Education" (2012), available at http://www.hostos.cuny.edu/ getmedia/1b90aabb-61f3-464a-8302-aaf3eb748e37/ Final-MSCHE-Team-Report.aspx.
- 107 WASC Senior College and University Commission, "Handbook of Accreditation 2013 Revised."
- 108 WASC Senior College and University Commission, "Handbook of Accreditation 2013 Revised Quick Reference Guide," available at https://www.wscuc.org/ content/2013-handbook-accreditation-quick-reference-quide (last accessed March 2018).
- 109 WASC Senior College and University Commission, "Standards at a Glance 2013," available at https://www. wscuc.org/content/standards-glance-2013 (last accessed March 2018).
- 110 WASC Senior College and University Commission, "Title IV Compliance Policy," available at https://www.wscuc. org/content/title-iv-compliance-policy (last accessed March 2018).
- 111 WASC Senior College and University Commission, "Using Evidence in the WSCUC Accreditation Process," available at https://www.wscuc.org/content/usingevidence-wscuc-accreditation-process-guide (last accessed March 2018).
- 112 WASC Senior College and University Commission, "Annual Report User Guide," available at https://www. wscuc.org/content/annual-report-user-guide (last accessed March 2018).
- 113 San Diego State University, "Institutional Report" (2015) available at http://wasc.sdsu.edu/ resources/ files/04950-SDSU-InstReport-150911.pdf; Kumble R. Subbaswamy and others, "Report of the WSCUC Team for Reaffirmation of Accreditation" (2016), available at http://wasc.sdsu.edu/_resources/files/06575-WASCTeamReportSpring2016.pdf.
- 114 California State University San Marcos, "2015 Institutional Report" (2015), available at https://www.csusm. edu/wasc/institutionalreport.html; Christopher N. Oberg and Geoffrey Chase, "Report of the WSCUC Team for Reaffirmation of Accreditation" (2016), available at https://www.csusm.edu/wasc/documents/csusmteam-report-av-spring-20162.pdf.
- 115 Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "Accreditation Standards."
- 116 Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "Eligibility Requirements for Accreditation" (2014), available at https://accjc.org/wp-content/uploads/Eligibility-Requirements-Adopted-June-2014.pdf.
- 117 Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "Policy on Institutional Compliance with Title IV" (2011), available at https://accjc.org/wp-content/ uploads/Institutional-Compliance-Title-IV.pdf.

- 118 Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "2018 Annual Report"; For an example, see Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "Kapi'olani Community College, 2017 Annual Report."
- 119 Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges, "Institution and Team Guidance for ACCJC Standard I.B.3," available at https://accjc.org/wpcontent/uploads/ACCJC-Standards-Discussion.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 120 MiraCosta Community College District, "Institutional Self Evaluation Report in Support of Reaffirmation of Accreditation"; Frank P. Gornick, "External Evaluation Report."
- 121 Napa Valley College, "Self-Evaluation Report in Support of Educational Quality and Institutional Effectiveness In Support of Reaffirmation of Accreditation 2015," available at http://www.napavalley.edu/AboutNVC/ Planning/accreditation/Pages/Self-Evaluation 2014. as px(last accessed March 2018); Napa Valley College, "External Evaluation Report" (2015), available at http://www. napavalley.edu/AboutNVC/Planning/accreditation/ Documents/New%20ACCJC%20COmmunications/External%20Evaluation%20Team%20Report%20020516.
- 122 Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities, "Standards for Accreditation," available at https://web. archive.org/web/20170322135432/http://www.nwccu. org/Pubs%20Forms%20and%20Updates/Publications/ Standards%20for%20Accreditation.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 123 Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities, "NWCCU Standards."
- 124 Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities, "NWCCU 2017 Annual Report," available at http://www. nwccu.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/2017-Annual-Report-PDF-version.pdf (last accessed March 2018).
- 125 Eastern Washington University, "Self-Evaluation Report" (2015), available at https://sites.ewu.edu/assessment/ files/2018/03/Self-Evaluation-Report-for-Accreditation-Reaffirmation-03.01.15.pdf (last accessed March 2018); Eastern Washington University, "Year Seven Peer-Evaluation Report" (2015), available at https://sites. ewu.edu/assessment/files/2018/03/Peer-Evaluation-Report-05.06.15.pdf.
- 126 Bellingham Technical College, "Year Seven Comprehensive Self-Evaluation Report" (2014), available at http://www.btc.edu/General/Publications/InstituitionalResearch/BTCAccreditationReport.pdf; Bellingham Technical College, "Year Seven Comprehensive Peer-Evaluation Report: Commendations & Recommendations" (2014), available at http://www.btc.edu/General/ Publications/InstituitionalResearch/Year%20Seven%20 Comprehensive%20Peer%20Evaluation%20Report_ Commendations % 20 and % 20 Recommendations. pdf.

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

